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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW MEXICO

JAIME LOREE ARMIJO, on behalf of herself and all others
similarly situated,

Plaintiff,
V. Civil No.

FEDEX GROUND PACKAGE SYSTEM, INC,,
a foreign company,

Defendant.
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND

COMES NOW Plaintiff Jaime Loree Armijo, on her own behalf and on behalf of
all others similarly situated, by and through undersigned counsel, and asserts to the
best of her knowledge, information and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable
under the circumstances, the following:

INTRODUCTION

1. FedEx Ground Package System, Inc. (hereafter, “FedEx Ground”) has
fought - and largely lost — a 15-year-plus battle with its drivers over their correct
classification as employees or independent contractors. For reasons mostly relating
to securing business advantages over competitors, FedEx classified its drivers as
independent contractors, which in turn forced the drivers to carry most of the
expenses relating to courier overhead. Over the last five years, this classification
status has been consistently rejected by various courts. See, e.g., Slayman v. FedEx
Ground Package Sys., 765 F.3d 1033 (9th Cir. 2014); Craig v. FedEx Ground Package
Sys., 335 P.3d 66 (Kan. 2014) (per curiam); Alexander v. FedEx Ground Package Sys.,

765 F.3d 981 (9t Cir. 2014). The quantity of litigation arising from FedEx Ground’s
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claimed status of its drivers is the byproduct of the operating agreements it entered
into with its drivers. As the District of Kansas has explained, FedEx Ground
“carefully structured its drivers’ operating agreements so that it could label the
drivers as independent contractors ... to avoid the additional costs associated with
employees. In other words,” the question is close “by design.” Craig, 335 P.3d at 72-
73.

2. This lawsuit is the first brought by New Mexico FedEx Ground drivers
challenging the independent contractor status claimed by FedEx Ground. Two legal
claims, both unique to New Mexico, are asserted.

3. First, New Mexico FedEx Ground drivers seek recovery under New
Mexico’s unauthorized deduction statute, NMSA 1978, § 14-13-11(A), which
provides:

All assignments of wages or salaries due or to become due
to any person, in order to be valid, shall be acknowledged
by the party making the assignment before a notary public
or other officer authorized to take acknowledgments. The
assignment shall be recorded in the office of the county
clerk of the county in which the money is to be paid and a
copy served upon the employer or person who is to make
payment.
By taking deductions from its drivers every week, FedEx Ground violates this
statute with every check to Ground drivers for their work performed.

4, Second, New Mexico’s overtime law, NMSA 1978, § 50-4-22(D) (2008),
requires that for those hours over 40 worked in a week, employees shall be paid
time-and-a-half their regular hourly rate. The statute also permits only a limited use

of wage deductions: “An employer furnishing food, utilities, supplies or housing to

an employee who is engaged in agriculture may deduct the reasonable value of such
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furnished items from any wage due to the employee.” Id., § 50-4-22(B). These rights
cannot be waived: “The Minimum Wage Act conveys rights in the form of minimum
standards that the legislature intended all state workers to enjoy, without regard to
a worker's relationship with a union or her or his contract with the employer. ...
These rights are nonnegotiable, meaning that they cannot be waived by private law,
including the worker's and the employer's mutual agreement.” Selfv. UPS, 1998-
NMSC-046, | 14,970 P.2d 582, 588.

5. There is no exception to the New Mexico overtime law applicable to
FedEx Ground drivers.

6. Private enforcement of the overtime statute is granted via NMSA
1978, § 50-4-26 (2013). Among other things, the statute provides for a private cause
of action, mandatory liquidated damages equal to twice the underpaid wages,
attorney’s fees to a prevailing plaintiff (but not to a prevailing defendant), injunctive
relief, and a requirement that actions brought under the statute “shall be heard by
the court at the earliest possible date and shall be entitled to a preference over all
other civil actions...” The statute of limitations for such claims is three years. NMSA
1978, § 37-1-5 (2009).

7. Because Plaintiff’'s working conditions are materially identical to her
coworkers’, this lawsuit is brought as a class action.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. This Court has jurisdiction in this matter via 28 U.S.C. § 1332, as the

amount in controversy exceeds $5 million and there is at least one class member

diverse in citizenship from the defendant.
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9. Venue is appropriate in this district because Plaintiff is a citizen of
New Mexico, this class involves FedEx Ground drivers who operated out of FedEx’s
New Mexico terminal, and most (if not all) of FedEx Ground’s breaches took place
within this judicial district.

PARTIES

10. Plaintiff Jaime Loree Armijo is a citizen of the state of New Mexico,
within this judicial district. On July 27, 2013, Plaintiff executed a contract with
FedEx Ground to work as a “pickup and delivery contractor.” Exhibit 1 is a true and
correct copy of Plaintiff’s 7/27/13 FedEx Ground contract.

11. Defendant FedEx Ground Package System, Inc., is a Delaware
corporation with its principal place of business in Pennsylvania. On information and
belief, FedEx Ground is a citizen of Pennsylvania in that it principally operates out of
that state and its headquarters are located within that state. FedEx Ground Package
System, Inc. is a part of the family of corporations owned by Federal Express
Corporation.

12.  In this Complaint, FedEx Ground is specifically defined as the named
defendant and all successor, predecessor, related and subsidiary entities to which
these allegations pertain.

13. For most of her tenure at FedEx Ground, Plaintiff routinely worked 60
hours a week, or more. Because Plaintiff and class members turn on their FedEx-
supplied scanner as the first thing they do when they are ready to leave the
terminal, and turn off their scanner as the last thing they do when their shift ends,

FedEx has a record of the hours worked by Plaintiff and all other class members.
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14.  The FedEx Ground contract was unilaterally amended by FedEx many
times during Plaintiff’s tenure as a driver. At some point on or after April 2, 2016,
FedEx canceled the contracts of all New Mexico drivers and replaced their contracts
with a new “agreement” that included a requirement that all drivers must purchase
at least five FedEx routes (hereafter referred to as the “FedEx replacement
contract”).

15.  This case only involves those claims arising out of the standard
contract attached as Exhibit 1 (Plaintiff Armijo’s 7/27/13 contract with FedEx
Ground). This case does not bring claims arising out of drivers’ performance of the
FedEx replacement contract (a copy of which is not attached, as Plaintiff Armijo left
FedEx Ground on April 2, 2016, before the replacement contract was instituted) .

16.  FedEx Ground required Plaintiff and class members to create and
maintain a corporate entity in order to operate as contractor. Id.,, Addendum 16.
Accordingly, Plaintiff created “Jaimes Elegant P & D Corporation” and executed the
FedEx Ground contract as the sole owner/operator of that entity.

FACTS
A. New Mexico employee status test

17. When determining whether a worker is an “employee” protected by
the New Mexico wage laws, New Mexico courts look to the “economic realities” of
the relationship. Under the economic realities test, or any test for “employee

status,” Plaintiff and other FedEx Ground drivers are employees of Defendant.
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B. The economic realities of the relationship demonstrate that FedEx
Ground drivers are employees not independent contractors

18.  Invoking the factors New Mexico courts apply demonstrates that
Plaintiff and the described class members are employees of FedEx Ground.

19.  FedEx Ground controls the terms and conditions of plaintiffs’
employment. FedEx Ground's drivers are a permanent and important part of its
business. They work every day that FedEx Ground delivers packages, for 9.5 to 11
hours per day. They are overseen by FedEx-employed managers, who evaluate their
job performance and may refuse to let them work. Therefore, they are employees
under the economic-realities test.

C. FedEx Ground has the right to control the means and manner of drivers’
work, and exercises that control

20.  FedEx Ground requires all newly hired drivers to execute a standard
agreement; a driver's failure to comply with the agreement is grounds for
termination. Id., p. 18 of 23, § 12.1. Accordingly, FedEx Ground can require
compliance with its instructions by threatening termination.

21.  Though the contract purports to grant drivers some discretion, a
closer look at the contract negates the notion that the drivers have any room for
discretion in the manner and means of performing their jobs. see, e.g., Id., pp- 1,7, 16
of 23, Att. 7.1 to Addendum 7. FedEx Ground’s directions include: delivery days and
times; delivery methods; reporting requirements; vehicle identification,
specifications, and maintenance; and driver appearance. FedEx Ground endeavors
to control every detail of a driver’s performance, including the color of socks and the

style of hair. See, e.g., Id., pp. 3 & 6 of 23, at ] 1.5 & 1.12.
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22.  FedEx Ground drivers cannot exercise their independence by
modifying their contract to their advantage. Thus, the document more closely
resembles a unilaterally proffered, take-it-or-leave-it employment contract. See, e.g.,
Id., pp. 9, 13, 15, 16, 22 of 23. In addition, the contract is not the sole source defining
a driver's relationship with the company. There are manuals, handbooks,
memoranda, training videos, and other means of communication that direct the
manner and means of delivering packages for FedEx Ground. In short, the procedure
by which a driver becomes qualified to deliver packages for FedEx Ground more
closely resembles the process for hiring employees, not the process for negotiating
independent contractor agreements.

23.  With respect to a driver’s appearance, the contract requires drivers to
“wear a FedEx Ground-approved uniform, maintained in good condition,” and to
“keep his/her personal appearance consistent with reasonable standards of good
order as maintained by competitors and promulgated from time to time by FedEx
Ground.” Id., p. 6 of 23,  1.12. The notion that such requirements are merely
unenforceable suggestions is negated by the fact that FedEx Ground reserves the
right to refuse to allow drivers to perform deliveries unless properly dressed or
groomed.

24.  FedEx Ground requires drivers to comply with strict requirements for
vehicle appearance, specification, and maintenance. For example, each vehicle must
be painted “FedEx White” and bear FedEx Ground’s logos and advertising. The
trucks must be “maintained in a clean and presentable fashion free of body damage

and extraneous markings.” FedEx Ground reserves the right to inspect trucks to
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ensure they comply with FedEx Ground’s appearance standards. The vehicles must
meet FedEx Ground's minimum specifications for height, width, length, bumper
height, interior shelving requirements, and (in some cases) age restrictions. FedEx
Ground decides what size and configuration of truck is appropriate for a particular
route. FedEx managers may remove a vehicle from service if it does not meet
appearance standards or if a driver fails to timely submit maintenance reports.
Failure to comply with the vehicle appearance standards constitutes a breach of the
contract, which can result in termination by FedEx Ground. See Id., pp. 3, 5, & 6 of 23,
19 1.5,1.10(e), & 1.12.

25.  The FedEx Ground contract provides strict requirements with regard
to the handling and delivery of packages. Drivers are required to “handle, load,
unload and transport packages using methods that are designed to avoid theft, loss
and damage.” Id., p. 5 of 23 at (c).) In addition, the FedEx Ground contract provides
that drivers agree to “[c]ooperate with FedEx Ground’s employees, customers and
other contractors, to achieve the goal of efficient pick-up, delivery, handling, loading
and unloading of packages and equipment, and provide such electronic and/or
manual data pertaining to package handling as is reasonably necessary to achieve
this goal.” Id., p. 5 of 23 at (d).

26. FedEx Ground requires drivers to record information on all package
deliveries. FedEx Ground utilizes multiple oversight methods for the contract’s
handling and delivery requirements. In other words, FedEx Ground supervises
drivers to assure that the designated manner and means of delivering packages are

being followed. Specifically, FedEx managers are to conduct daily van service audits
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of every driver to ensure compliance with FedEx Ground's procedures for
undelivered packages. Failure to follow FedEx Ground's procedures for proper
release of packages may constitute a breach of the contract, resulting in termination.

27.  FedEx Ground hires experts to perform random security reviews to
ensure that drivers are securing their vehicles properly when delivering packages.
Failure to properly secure a vehicle is also considered a violation of the FedEx
Ground contract.

28. FedEx Ground requires at least two, but not more than four, customer
service rides each year. Id., pp. 6 & 13 of 23, ] 1.14 & 5.2. The customer service
rides provide FedEx managers with the opportunity to see if drivers are complying
with FedEx Ground's customer service standards and ensure that drivers are
operating their vehicles safely. FedEx managers are trained to record observations
during a customer service ride, including: drivers’ check-in and check-out
procedures; how drivers operate, park, enter and exit their vehicles; drivers’
delivery and pickup methods; and whether drivers experience any delay time in
performing their work. In addition, the FedEx manager is supposed to make
multiple specific written observations regarding the driver's performance in the
areas of package quality at delivery, quality assurance, driver release, professional
appearance, customer courtesy, and service. During some of the customer service
rides, FedEx managers analyze the driver's primary service area and document
details including: the time the driver arrives and departs from each stop; the
number of minutes at each stop; the number of minutes between stops; the last

three digits of the driver's odometer reading at each stop; and the approximate



Case 1:17-cv-00440 Document 1 Filed 04/11/17 Page 10 of 20

distance a driver must walk to pick up or deliver a package.

29. FedEx managers are expected to conduct at least two "business
discussions" with drivers each year. The business discussions are considered
procedures and not mandatory policies. The business discussions are designed to
allow FedEx managers to provide recommendations and counseling to drivers in
performing their contracted work. A FedEx manager may request a business
discussion for multiple reasons, including problems with the driver's performance
related to undelivered packages, missed pickups, and improper documentation.
Although FedEx Ground may not force drivers to participate in a business
discussion, failure to participate may reflect poorly on drivers’ opportunities to
renew their contracts. Moreover, documentation from business discussions is used
to support contract termination.

30.  Further, FedEx managers are encouraged to conduct a “business plan”
discussion with drivers each year. During the documented discussion, FedEx
managers review problem areas, agreed-upon solutions, delivery areas, and driver
expectations. A FedEx business plan discussion form provides spaces for the
manager to document the following information: the driver's total number of stops,
packages, miles, and DOT (Department of Transportation) hours of work;
anticipated changes in the driver's primary service area; the condition and
appearance of the driver's equipment; any deficiencies and expected correction
dates; the number and types of complaints the driver has received in the last 12
months; the driver's contingency plan in the event of a vehicle breakdown; and any

comments or questions the driver may have.

10
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Drivers’ work is an integral part of FedEx’s business
31.  The work that the FedEx Ground drivers perform -- the pick-up and
delivery of packages -- is essential to FedEx Ground’s core business.

The Driver’s relative investment in tools and equipment pales
in comparison to the investment of Defendant

32.  Mostdrivers use tools, instrumentalities, and services supplied by
FedEx Ground -- by participating in deductions from FedEx Ground’s Business
Support Package/Contractor Assistance Program - including: marketing, uniforms,
scanners, shipping documentation, and DOT (Department of Transportation)
inspections. See Id., pp. 6 & 15 of 23, 9 1.13 & 7, & Addendum 7.

33.  Though drivers have some investment in their tools and equipment
(including for many drivers, their delivery vehicle), this investment is minimal when
compared to the millions of dollars invested by FedEx in advertising, paying
management and other employees, and maintaining delivery facilities across the
entire United States.

Drivers have no ability to affect their profit or loss through managerial skill

34.  FedEx Ground unilaterally controls the price paid by the customer for
each delivery.

35.  FedEx Ground unilaterally determines the amount that the drivers are
paid for each delivery, which is essentially a piecerate for each job performed but
has some variable components determined by FedEx Ground. See, e.g., Id. at
Addendum 3.

36.  Drivers are required to perform any delivery assigned by Defendant,

even if it is outside their normal “territory,” and the driver believes that the delivery

11
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will not be profitable (e.g., driving 1.5 hours round-trip to deliver one package that
is on another Driver’s route).

37.  Defendant also maintains the right, and exercises its right, to take
away any delivery from inside a driver’s defined “territory” and assign it to a
different driver.

38. If drivers wish to hire a “helper” to assist them in their work, FedEx
Ground has the final say over whom they may hire.

Minimal skill is required for drivers to perform the work

39. FedEx Ground drivers need no experience to get the job in the first
place and the only required skill is the ability to drive.

Drivers usually have a long and exclusive relationship with FedEx Ground

40.  Plaintiff operated the same single route or territory for Defendant for
three years, and most other FedEx Ground drivers worked for Defendant for several
years. The agreement that FedEx Ground required all drivers to sign was for a term
of one-year.

41. Thus, drivers hold permanent, full-time positions and cannot
realistically pursue other business opportunities. While delivering Defendant’s
packages, they are forbidden from using their vehicles for any other purpose. See,
e.g. Id, p. 2 of 23, I 1.4. Drivers also cannot realistically use their vehicles for any
business purpose other than for Defendant, because Defendant requires that
Drivers’ vehicles bear a FedEx Ground logo, and Defendant prohibits use of the

vehicle for any activity not authorized by Defendant while the logo is visible.

12
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Other Considerations

42.  FedEx Ground's business is to take a package from one person or
entity and deliver it to another person or entity. FedEx Ground does not
manufacture or sell any product or perform any other service. When FedEx Ground
drivers deliver packages, they have performed the sole service that FedEx Ground
offers. Without the delivery drivers, there is no FedEx Ground business. In short,
Plaintiff and all other class members are integrated into FedEx Ground's business to
the highest degree possible, and this factor weighs heavily in favor of an
employer/employee relationship.

43.  FedEx Ground’s drivers provide the core function of FedEx Ground’s
business. Thus, FedEx Ground is in business, and businesses do not ordinarily trust
their core functions to independent contractors over whom the business has
minimal control.

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

44,  Plaintiff brings this lawsuit on her own behalf and on behalf of the
following class: all individuals who worked for defendant FedEx Ground System,
Inc., and/or its subsidiary, FedEx Home Delivery, Inc., in New Mexico as package
pick-up and delivery drivers pursuant to a Standard Operating Agreement and who
were classified as “independent contractors,” thereby depriving them of various
protections under New Mexico law.

45.  The named plaintiff will adequately represent the class because she
was treated by FedEx Ground in the same manner as other class members. FedEx

Ground'’s misclassification, and resulting violation of New Mexico law, damaged

13
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Plaintiff in the same manner as other class members.

46.  There are common questions of law and fact applicable to the entire
class, including the question of whether Plaintiff and other class members are
entitled to certain types of statutory protections as FedEx Ground employees, as
defined by common and statutory law.

47.  This case should be certified as a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ.
P. 23 because the common questions of law and fact concerning FedEx Ground'’s
liability predominate over any individual question as to the amount of damages to
each person in that:

a. The members of the class are so numerous that their individual
joinder in a single action is impossible and/or impracticable;

b. The central questions of law and fact involved in this action are of
a common or general interest and those common legal and factual
issues predominate over any questions affecting only individual
members of the class. Among the common questions of law and
fact are the following:

i. Whether class members have been misclassified as
independent contractors;

ii. Whether FedEx Ground has violated its legal obligations
under various provisions of New Mexico law;

iii. Whether injunctive and declaratory relief and an

equitable accounting are proper.

14
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48.  Individual litigation of all claims that might be asserted by all class
members would produce a multiplicity of cases that would congest for years the
judicial system having jurisdiction of the claims. By contrast, class certification
provides manageable judicial treatment calculated to bring a rapid conclusion to all
litigation of all claims arising out of the conduct of FedEx that is similar as to all class
members.

49.  Certification of the class would allow litigation of claims that may be
of an insufficient amount to support separate actions, in view of the expense of the
litigation.

50.  The claims of the named plaintiff are identical to the claims of other
members of the class. The named plaintiff shares the same interests as other
members of the class in this action because, like other class members, FedEx
Ground’s wrongful misclassification caused Plaintiff and each class member to each
suffer financial loss of thousands of dollars.

51.  The named plaintiff is committed to vigorously prosecuting this
action. She has retained competent and experienced counsel to represent her and
the class.

52.  Aclass action is the only realistic method available for the fair and
efficient adjudication of this controversy. The expense and burden of individual
litigation makes it impracticable for class members to seek individual redress for
FedEx’s wrongful conduct.

Count 1
Violation of NMSA 1978, § 50-4-22 (2008), New Mexico’s Overtime Law

53.  Plaintiff restates paragraphs 1-52 as if fully set forth.
15
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54.  Plaintiff’s first claim is brought for FedEx Ground’s violation of NMSA
1978, § 50-4-22 (2008). It is brought under New Mexico statutory law.

55.  The class period for this claim begins three years before the date this
action commenced. See NMSA 1978, § 37-1-5 (2009).

56. Under NMSA 1978, § 50-4-22(D) (2008), all New Mexico employees
(with limited exceptions not relevant here) are entitled to be paid at time-and-a-half
their regular hourly rate for all hours above 40 worked in a week.

57.  The exceptions to this protection at NMSA1978, § 50-4-24 (2013) do
not apply to Plaintiff or to other class members.

58.  The overtime protections may be enforced civilly through NMSA
1978, § 50-4-26 (2013). The statute provides a private right of action for violation of
the overtime protections, mandatory liquidated damages equal to twice the
underpaid wages, attorney’s fees to a prevailing plaintiff, injunctive relief, and a
requirement that actions brought under the statute “shall be heard by the court at
the earliest possible date and shall be entitled to a preference over all other civil
actions.”

59.  Plaintiff and the class members, who are properly classified as FedEx
Ground employees, are entitled to protection under the statute. They each have
been deprived overtime pay for their hours over 40 worked in a week.

Count 2

Violation of NMSA 1978, § 14-13-11,

New Mexico’s Unauthorized Deduction Statute

60.  Plaintiff restates paragraphs 1-52 as if fully set forth.

16
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61. Plaintiff’s second claim is for violation of NMSA 1978, § 14-13-11.1tis
brought under New Mexico statutory law.

62.  The class period for this claim begins four years before the date this
action commenced. See NMSA 1978, § 37-1-4.

63. Under NMSA 1978, § 14-13-11(A):

All assignments of wages or salaries due or to become due to
any person, in order to be valid, shall be acknowledged by the
party making the assignment before a notary public or other
officer authorized to take acknowledgments. The assignment
shall be recorded in the office of the county clerk of the county
in which the money is to be paid and a copy served upon the
employer or person who is to make payment.

64.  Because Plaintiff and class members are employees, they are entitled
to the protections of this statute.

65.  With each paycheck (which Fedex Ground calls a “settlement
statement”), FedEx Ground withholds certain amounts due to Plaintiff and class
members. This withholding is an “assignment of wages or salaries” and thus subject
to NMSA 1978, § 14-13-11.

66.  FedEx Ground violates the requirements of NMSA 1978, § 14-13-11
with each “settlement statement” paid to Plaintiff and class members.

67. Under NMSA 1978, § 14-13-11, FedEx Ground’s withholdings are void.
Plaintiff and class members are entitled to be reimbursed by FedEx Ground for all

amounts FedEx Ground withheld in violation of New Mexico law.

Count 3
Unjust Enrichment

68.  Plaintiff restates paragraphs 1-52 as if fully set forth.

17
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69.  Plaintiff’s third legal claim is for unjust enrichment. It arises under the
common law.

70.  The class period for this claim begins four years before the date this
action commenced. See NMSA 1978, § 37-1-4.

71.  Defendant FedEx Ground has been financially enriched by subjecting
Plaintiff and other class members to deductions, charges, and/or expenses that
typically are borne by the employer (including many of FedEx Ground’s business
competitors).

72.  The financial enrichment enjoyed by FedEx Ground has come at the
expense of Plaintiff and other class members, all of whom have borne the improper
deductions, charges and/or expenses.

73.  Itis against equity and good conscience to permit Defendant FedEx
Ground to retain such improper deductions, charges and/or expenses, and it is
against the public policy of New Mexico for FedEx Ground to benefit from these
unlawful deductions from their employee’s wages.

74.  Defendant FedEx Ground should be required to reimburse Plaintiff
and other class members for such improper deductions, charges and/or expenses
under the doctrine of unjust enrichment.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff and all other class members respectfully request the
following relief:

A. Certification of the above-described class with the appointment of

Plaintiff as the class representative and the undersigned attorneys as

class counsel;

18
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B. A declaration that FedEx Ground has violated both NMSA 1978, § 50-4-22
(2008) (New Mexico’s overtime law) and NMSA 1978, § 14-13-11 (New
Mexico’s unauthorized deduction statute);

C. Anaward of overtime pay to Plaintiff and to class members for all hours
over 40 worked per week for each week during the class period;

D. Liquidated damages equaling two times the overtime payments due to
Plaintiff and all class members;

E. Anaward of all amounts withheld by FedEx Ground in violation of NMSA
1978, § 14-13-11;

F. Reimbursement of all charges, deductions and expenses;

G. An award of attorneys’ fees and reasonable costs incurred in the
prosecution of this action;

H. All other relief this Court finds appropriate and equitable including
payment of reasonable fees, costs, and interest where permitted by law.

JURY DEMAND
Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 38, Plaintiff and all other class members demand a
trial by jury on all issues that may be so tried.
Respectfully submitted,
BAUMAN, DOW & STAMBAUGH, P.C.
/s/ Christopher P. Bauman
Christopher P. Bauman
Cynthia L. Weisman
P.O. Box 30684
Albuquerque, NM 87190
Tel. (505) 883-3191
Fax (505) 883-3194

cpb@bdsfirm.com
cw@bdsfirm.com

19
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and
LICHTEN & LISS-RIORDAN, P.C.
Harold L. Lichten
Matthew Thomson
729 Boylston Street, Suite 2000
Boston, MA 02116
Tel. 617-994-5800
Fax: 617-994-5801
hlichten@Illrlaw.com
mthomson@llrlaw.com
and
BERGER & MONTAGUE, P.C
Shanon ]. Carson
Sarah R. Schalman-Bergen
1622 Locust Street
Philadelphia, PA 19103
Tel. 215-875-3053
scarson@bm.net
sschalman-bergen@bm.net
and
JORDAN LEWIS, P.A.
Jordan Lewis
4473 N.E. 11th Avenue
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33334
Tel. 954-616-8995
Fax: 954-206-0374
Email: jordan@jml-lawfirm.com

Counsel for Plaintiff Armijo and All Other
Class Members

20
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The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as
provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the
purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

. () PLAINTIFFS o ) DEFENDANTS
Jamie Armijo, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated FedEx Ground Package System, Inc.

JS 44 (Rev. 08/16)

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff ~ Bernalillo
(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)

County of Residence of First Listed Defendant ~ Pennsylvania
(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF
THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.

NOTE:

(C) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number) Attorneys (If Known)
Christopher P. Bauman, Cynthia L. Weisman, Bauman Dow&Stambaugh

PC, POB 30684 Alb NM 87190 505-883-3191

I1. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an “X” in One Box Only) I1l. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an “X” in One Box for Plaintiff
(For Diversity Cases Only) and One Box for Defendant)
O 1 U.S. Government 0 3 Federal Question PTF DEF PTF DEF
Plaintiff (U.S. Government Not a Party) Citizen of This State XK1 1 1 Incorporated or Principal Place 04 04
of Business In This State
3 2 U.S. Government fa ! Diversity Citizen of Another State a2 O 2 Incorporated and Principal Place a5 X5
Defendant (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item I11) of Business In Another State
Citizen or Subject of a o3 O 3 Foreign Nation a6 06
Foreign Country
IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Place an “X” in One Box Only) Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.
| CONTRACT TORTS FORFEITURE/PENALTY BANKRUPTCY OTHER STATUTES ]
3 110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY |3 625 Drug Related Seizure 3 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 O 375 False Claims Act
0 120 Marine 0 310 Airplane 3 365 Personal Injury - of Property 21 USC 881 |3 423 Withdrawal 3 376 Qui Tam (31 USC
3 130 Miller Act O 315 Airplane Product Product Liability 3 690 Other 28 USC 157 3729(a))
0 140 Negotiable Instrument Liability 0 367 Health Care/ 0 400 State Reapportionment
3 150 Recovery of Overpayment |3 320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS O 410 Antitrust
& Enforcement of Judgment Slander Personal Injury 0 820 Copyrights 0 430 Banks and Banking
O 151 Medicare Act O 330 Federal Employers’ Product Liability 3 830 Patent 3 450 Commerce
0 152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability 0 368 Asbestos Personal O 840 Trademark O 460 Deportation
Student Loans O 340 Marine Injury Product O 470 Racketeer Influenced and
(Excludes Veterans) [ 345 Marine Product Liability LABOR SOCIAL SECURITY. Corrupt Organizations
O 153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY |3 710 Fair Labor Standards 3 861 HIA (1395ff) O 480 Consumer Credit
of Veteran’s Benefits 3 350 Motor Vehicle O 370 Other Fraud Act 3 862 Black Lung (923) 3 490 Cable/Sat TV
3 160 Stockholders’ Suits O 355 Motor Vehicle O 371 Truth in Lending O 720 Labor/Management 3 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) | O 850 SecuritiessCommodities/
0 190 Other Contract Product Liability 3 380 Other Personal Relations 0 864 SSID Title XVI Exchange
3 195 Contract Product Liability |3 360 Other Personal Property Damage O 740 Railway Labor Act 3 865 RSI (405(g)) 3 890 Other Statutory Actions
0 196 Franchise Injury O 385 Property Damage 3 751 Family and Medical 0 891 Agricultural Acts
3 362 Personal Injury - Product Liability Leave Act O 893 Environmental Matters
Medical Malpractice X 790 Other Labor Litigation 3 895 Freedom of Information
| REAL PROPERTY CIVIL RIGHTS PRISONER PETITIONS |3 791 Employee Retirement FEDERAL TAX SUITS Act
0 210 Land Condemnation O 440 Other Civil Rights Habeas Corpus: Income Security Act 0 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff 0 896 Arbitration
3 220 Foreclosure 0 441 Voting O 463 Alien Detainee or Defendant) O 899 Administrative Procedure
3 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment O 442 Employment O 510 Motions to Vacate 3 871 IRS—Third Party Act/Review or Appeal of
3 240 Torts to Land 0 443 Housing/ Sentence 26 USC 7609 Agency Decision
3 245 Tort Product Liability Accommodations O 530 General O 950 Constitutionality of
3 290 All Other Real Property 0O 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - | O 535 Death Penalty IMMIGRATION State Statutes
Employment Other: 0 462 Naturalization Application
O 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - | 3 540 Mandamus & Other |3 465 Other Immigration
Other 0 550 Civil Rights Actions
O 448 Education 3 555 Prison Condition
3 560 Civil Detainee -
Conditions of
Confinement

V. ORIGIN (Place an “X’” in One Box Only)

X1 Original 3 2 Removed from A 3 Remanded from O 4 Reinstated or 3 5 Transferred from 3 6 Multidistrict O 8 Multidistrict
Proceeding State Court Appellate Court Reopened Another District Litigation - Litigation -
(specify) Transfer Direct File
Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity):

28 U.S.C. 1332

Brief description of cause: . )
Violations of NM Overtime Law and NM Unauthorized Deduction Statute

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION

VIlI. REQUESTED IN (A CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION DEMAND $ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:

COMPLAINT: UNDER RULE 23, F.R.CV.P. JURY DEMAND: X Yes [ No
VIII. RELATED CASE(S) ( |

See instructions):

IF ANY JUDGE DOCKET NUMBER

DATE SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD
Christopher P. Bauman
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY
RECEIPT # AMOUNT APPLYING IFP JUDGE MAG. JUDGE
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44
Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as
required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is
required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of
Court for each civil complaint filed. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows:

l.(@) Plaintiffs-Defendants. Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant. If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use
only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and
then the official, giving both name and title.

(b) County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the
time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land
condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant™ is the location of the tract of land involved.)

(c) Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting
in this section "(see attachment)".

1. Jurisdiction. The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "X"
in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below.
United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here.
United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box.
Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment
to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes
precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked.
Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the
citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section 111 below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity
cases.)

I11.  Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this
section for each principal party.

IV.  Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code
that is most applicable. Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.

V. Origin. Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes.
Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.
Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441.
When the petition for removal is granted, check this box.
Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing
date.
Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date.
Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or
multidistrict litigation transfers.
Multidistrict Litigation — Transfer. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C.
Section 1407.
Multidistrict Litigation — Direct File. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket.
PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7. Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to
changes in statue.

VI.  Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional
statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service

VII.  Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P.
Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction.
Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.

VIII. Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket
numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet.
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